FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/20/2018 8:48 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/20/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO.	96110-7

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 49569-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHEHALIS CHILDREN'S CLINIC, P.S.,

Appellant,

٧.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas J. Westbrook, WSBA #4986 Paul J. Boudreaux, WSBA # 49038 Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

Rodgers Kee Card & Strophy, P.S. 324 West Bay Dr. NW, Ste. 201 Olympia, WA 98502 (360) 352-8311 tjw@buddbaylaw.com paul@buddbaylaw.com

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW	
D.	STATEMENT OF CASE2	
	Facts Relevant to Issue Presented2	
	Procedural History4	
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED7	
	1. Reasonable Reliance9	
	2. Impairment of Government Function	
F.	CONCLUSION 17	
G.	APPENDIXA-1	
	1. Court of Appeals DecisionA-1	
	2. Section 1902(bb)(5)(A) of the SSAA-2	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

wasnington Cases
Colonial Imports, 121 Wn.2d at 735, 853 P.2d 9139
In re Sego, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973)9
Kramarevcky v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 122 Wn. 2d 738, 863 P.2d 535 (1993)
Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 405, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)
Federal Statutes
42 U.S.C. 1396a(bb)
42 U.S.C. 1396a(bb)(5)(A); Title XVIII, Section 1902(bb)(5)(A)
42 U.S.C. 1396a(bb)(6)(B)9
Washington Statutes
RCW 74.08.09013
RCW 74.09.51013
RCW 74.09.52213

Washington Administrative Code WAC 182-549-1400(12)......3 WAC 388-02-0495...... 1. 5. 8 WAC 388-02-0495(1). 8 WAC 388-548-1400(10). 12 WAC 388-548-1400(13)......13 **Federal Regulations** 42 C.F.R. 405.2472, 42 C.F.R. 491. 08-05-011, § 388-549-1400. 13 42 C.F.R. 405.2472, and 42 C.F.R. 491. 10-09-030, § 388-549-**Other Authorities** RAP 13.4(b)(1)......7

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Chehalis Children's Clinic, P.S. (hereinafter "CCC") asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision of the Court of Appeals of which CCC is seeking review is the Unpublished Opinion filed May 8, 2018 in Cause No. 49569-4-II. CCC seeks this review after the Court of Appeals filed its Order Denying Motion to Publish Opinion upon Respondent's motion to publish by decision dated June 21, 2018. A copy of the decision under review is in the Appendix at pages A-1.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals correctly decide that CCC failed to establish equitable estoppel as laid out in WAC 182-526-0495 by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence?¹

¹ The relevant WAC detailing equitable estoppel applicable to 2009 was WAC 388-02-0495.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Facts Relevant to Issue presented:

In its basic form, this is an appeal of an administrative action by the Washington Health Care Authority (hereinafter "HCA") to collect a claimed overpayment of money paid by the HCA to CCC. The money paid to CCC was both for Medicaid services provided to patients of CCC called encounters² and for a supplemental payment called enhancements.³

CCC is a federally-qualified Rural Health Clinic (hereinafter "RHC")⁴ as defined in WAC 182-549-1100 (formerly WAC 388-549-1100).⁵ CCC contracts with the HCA to provide Medicaid-funded services and to receive payment.⁶ The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) oversee the payments made to RHCs in compliance with Title XVIII of the Social Security Act (hereinafter "the Act") under section 1902(bb) of the Act [42 U.S.C. 1396a(bb)]. Among other responsibilities, the HCA must administer the

² WAC 182-549-1100: Encounter - "A face-to-face visit between a client and a qualified rural health clinic (RHC) provider (e.g. a physician, physician's assistant, or advanced registered nurse practitioner) who exercises independent judgment when providing services that qualify for an encounter rate."

³ WAC 182-549-1100: Enhancement - "A monthly amount paid to RHCs for each client enrolled with a managed care organization (MCO). MCOs may contract with RHCs to provide services under managed care programs. RHCs receive enhancements from the department in addition to negotiated payments they receive from the MCOs for services provided to enrollees."

⁴ CP 54; Agency Report of Proceedings (AR) 17, lines 15-25 and 18, lines 1-10.

⁵ CP 54; AR 134-135.

⁶ CP 54; AR 137-140.

payments made to RHCs as outlined in sections 1902(bb) of the Act in accordance with the Washington State Plan (SPA) under title XIX of the Social Security act that became effective July 1, 2008 as approved by CMS.⁷

The SPA provides as follows:

For clients enrolled with a manage care contractor, the State will pay the clinic a supplemental payment in addition to the amount paid by the managed care contractor. The supplemental payments, called enhancements, will be paid in amounts necessary to ensure compliance with Section 1902(bb)(5)(A) of the SSA. The State will pay the enhancements monthly on a per-member-per-month basis.⁸

WAC 182-549-1400(12) provides the rule on how RHCs are paid for encounters and enhancements and provides that for clients enrolled with a Managed Care Organization (hereinafter "MCO"), the HCA pays to each RHC a supplemental payment in addition to the amounts paid by the MCO.

To ensure proper payment to the RHC, the HCA is required to perform an annual reconciliation of the enhancement payments and for 2009, the HCA was required under the SPA at that time to reconcile 2009 payments in 2010.⁹

⁷ CP 54; AR 121-125.

⁸ CP 54; AR 125.

⁹ State Plan Amendment (SPA): "To ensure that the appropriate amounts are being paid to each clinic, the State will perform an annual reconciliation and verify that the enhancement payments made in the previous year were in

The HCA is attempting to collect \$74,634.00 from CCC as the claimed overpayment for calendar year 2009 that was not reconciled by HCA until 2014; five (5) years after payment was received. HCA is also pursuing additional claims for subsequent years, including \$216,000 for the year 2010, and \$1,045,025.00 for 2011-2013. 11

CCC has claimed from the beginning of its administrative appeal process that the reconciliation methodology used by the HCA is incorrect and does not comport with federal law. However, that issue was beyond the jurisdictional limits to be considered by the Administrative Law Judge that heard the initial appeal, ¹² and although argued by CCC and preserved for argument before the proper tribunal, was not an issue brought before the Court of Appeals.

Procedural History.

On December 31, 2014, Appellant (CCC) appealed the "Final Findings and Notice of Overpayment For 2009 Managed

compliance with Section 1902(bb)(5)(A). AR 125. The reconciliation for calendar year 2009 will be done starting in calendar year 2010 and every year thereafter." AR 122.

¹⁰ Chehalis Children's Clinic is only one (1) of many other Rural Health Clinics throughout Washington State that are currently affected by the same reconciliation process and claims for overpayment and collection by HCA for years 2009, 2010 and 2011-2013.

¹¹ AR 9.

¹² Initial Order, AR 50, Section 5.5. "The Administrative Law judge may not decide that a rule is invalid or unenforceable."

Care Reconciliation" from the HCA. CCC affirmatively claimed the reconciliation process was flawed. CCC also claimed the HCA actually owed CCC for unpaid enhancement payments when properly accounted. Further, CCC argued even if the reconciliation process was not flawed, the HCA was estopped from collection pursuant to the equitable estoppel provisions of WAC 388-02-0495.¹³

A hearing was scheduled to be held on April 1, 2015 but was ultimately continued to April 20, 2015 and held before an Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter "ALJ") under Docket No. 01-2015-HCA-06157. Both parties filed a Hearing Memorandum. ALJ Audrey Whitehurst conducted the hearing and entered her Initial Order on May 8, 2015 upon extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law to support her Order that while the HCA overpaid CCC, the doctrine of equitable estoppel precludes collection of the overpayment.

The HCA appealed ALJ Whitehurst's Initial Order by filing a Petition for Review to the Health Care Authority Board of Appeals as to the equitable estoppel issue, claiming that the doctrine of

¹³ CP 54; AR 103 - 104.

¹⁴ CP 54; AR 80-84 & 60-62.

¹⁵ CP 54; AR 66-71 & 72-76.

¹⁶ CP 54; AR 40-57.

equitable estoppel does not preclude collection and that all five elements of the doctrine had not been established.¹⁷ CCC did not appeal the ALJ Initial Order, however, it did file a Response to the HCA Petition for Review arguing the decision of ALJ Whitehurst as to equitable estoppel as articulated in paragraphs 5.22 through 5.28 of the Initial Order was appropriate and should be upheld.¹⁸

On August 10, 2015, Review Judge Clayton King of the Health Care Authority Board of Appeals ruled that the Initial Order allowing equitable estoppel was reversed and that the HCA may recover the overpayment.¹⁹

CCC appealed that ruling and timely filed its Petition for Judicial Review of Agency Action in this matter before the Thurston County Superior Court on September 8, 2015.²⁰ Judge Gary Tabor entered his Order Denying Petition on October 7, 2016.²¹ This decision was timely appealed to the Court of Appeals on October 28, 2016.²² The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion on May 8, 2018 denying the appeal of CCC. The HCA brought a Motion to Publish that was denied June 21, 2018.

¹⁷ CP 54; AR 35-39.

¹⁸ CP 54; AR 25-27.

¹⁹ CP 54; AR 00-21.

²⁰ CP 3-53.

²¹ CP 122-125.

²² CP 126-131.

In its decision at pages 24 and 25, the Court of Appeals ruled that CCC failed to meet its burden to show it reasonably relied on the Agency's overpayment and that government functions would not be impaired. Therefore, the Court reasoned, CCC had failed to show by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that it could establish all five (5) elements of equitable estoppel and the HCA was not precluded from recovering the overpayment. The Court of Appeals did not address the other three (3) elements of equitable estoppel.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be accepted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.²³

Although not directly construing WAC 182-526-0495, in 1993 the Supreme Court crafted the landmark case relating to equitable estoppel against a governmental entity (DSHS) as to all five (5) of the same elements outlined in the WAC in this case.²⁴ The Court of

²³ RAP 13.4(b)(1).

²⁴ The Supreme Court, Johnson, J., held that DSHS was equitably estopped from recovering public assistance benefits it overpaid to recipients. *Kramarevcky v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 122 Wn. 2d 738, 863 P.2d 535 (1993).

Appeals decision in the instant case is at odds with the decision in Kramarevcky.²⁵

Following the decision upholding equitable estoppel against DSHS in *Kramarevcky*, DSHS ultimately enacted WAC 388-02-0495 effective October 2, 2000, which outlined the same five (5) elements of equitable estoppel as proclaimed by the Supreme Court. WAC 182-526-0495, which relates directly to the HCA, became effective February 1, 2013, and is nothing more than a regurgitation of the same five (5) elements of WAC 388-02-0495.

Given that the HCA is a department within DSHS and has adopted the same definition of equitable estoppel as its parent Agency, which outlines the same five (5) elements adopted in *Kramarevcky*, there is Supreme Court precedent established since 1993 for the interpretation of each element when being applied to governmental agencies, and particularly to DSHS.

The Court of Appeals opinion in this case determined that CCC failed to persuade the Court as to two (2) of the five (5) elements of equitable estoppel based upon an interpretation that is in conflict with *Kramarevcky*. The two (2) elements the Court was

²⁵ Kramarevcky, Id.

²⁶ WAC 388-02-0495(1) Equitable estoppel is a legal doctrine defined in case law that may only be used as a defense to prevent the department from taking some action against you, such as collecting an overpayment.

not persuaded about were: 1) reasonable reliance; and 2) impairment of government function.

As pointed out by the Court of Appeals, each of the five (5) elements of equitable estoppel must be determined and proven by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Under this burden of proof, the trier of fact must be convinced the fact in issue is "highly probable".²⁷

1. Reasonable Reliance:

Contrary to the findings of the ALJ that heard the testimony in this matter, the Court of Appeals held the HCA Board of Appeals' ("the Board") findings support the Court's conclusion that the Clinic failed to prove it reasonably relied on the Agency's overpayment.²⁸ In reaching that conclusion, the Court of Appeals stated the parties are presumed to know the laws they are subject to and cited that CCC "...had reasonable notice of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a (bb)(6)(B), the federal statute requiring that the Agency's enhancement payments made to RHCs must make the total payment received by the RHCs at least equal to the payment RHCs would be paid under the PPS or APM. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396a (bb)(6)(B)."²⁹

²⁷ *Kramarevcky, Id.* at 539, and citing *Colonial Imports*, 121 Wn.2d at 735, 853 P.2d 913; *In re Sego*, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973).

²⁸ No. 49569-4-II at page 21.

²⁹ No. 49569-4-II at page 22.

Looking to federal law due to lack of state guidance is precisely the point CCC made throughout the entire appeal process. All parties must know the law they are subject to and the very quote by the Court of Appeals makes it clear that the federal statute requiring the supplemental (enhancement) payments made to CCC must be "at least equal to"; not "exactly equal' to" as found by the Board. "At least equal to" does not mean the payment cannot be more; it only means the payment cannot be less. "Exactly equal to" means it cannot be more or less. Thus, CCC's interpretation of federal law is reasonable based on a plain reading of the statute.

CCC was entitled to rely upon the federal statute indicating supplemental payments made to them by the HCA had to be at least equal to their encounter payments; and if the supplemental payments were less than the encounter payments, CCC was entitled to rely that they would be paid more to make up the difference. Since the federal statute does not require repayment of any portion of the supplemental payment paid in excess of the encounters, CCC reasonably relied that they could keep all of the supplemental payment they received.

³⁰ No. 49569-4-II at page 11.

In making its determination about reasonable reliance, the Court of Appeals has adopted the wrong finding, just as did the Board. On the other hand, the ALJ found that CCC had reasonably relied upon the accuracy or correctness of the enhancement payments they received from the HCA. The ALJ not only applied the correct law, but her findings were based on her opportunity to assess the credibility of the witnesses.³¹

To further obfuscate the analysis, in the record, the Board mischaracterizes enhancement payments as "interim" payments³² and the Court of Appeals followed that red herring to later refer to enhancement payments as "contingent"³³. This characterization by the Appellate court is unfounded and in error. There is no place in the federal statutes that characterizes supplemental payments to RHCs in this manner nor does such language exist in the WAC or SPA approved by CMS. The use of such words dilutes the meaning

³¹ Initial Opinion, AR 54-55, Conclusion of Law number 5.24. "CCC believed the claims were paid correctly. The Agency continued to send monthly enhancement payments to CCC without any instruction or warning that they may be responsible to pay it back in the future. It was only after a federal audit that the Agency put in place a standard for reconciling the enhancement payments that it provided to RHCs. CCC reasonably relied on the Agency's conduct of sending them monthly enhancement payments. The enhancement payments were construed as incentive for CCC to continue to operate as an RHC, catering to low income children and families."

³² No. 49569-4-II at pages 4 &10.

³³ No. 49569-4-II at page 23.

and definition of enhancements and sets up an incorrect interpretation that led the Court to a flawed conclusion.

The Court of Appeals was further confused in determining reasonable reliance when it embraced the Board's finding that a reasonable person who knew that the HCA was going to set up a reconciliation process would also know that meant the amount of money paid to them for enhancements was not the correct amount at the time it was paid, and that it may have to be paid back.³⁴ This finding is wrong on several fronts:

- a) As shown above, federal law does not require any enhancement overpayments to be paid back, only that the enhancements must be at least equal to the encounter payments;
- b) The reconciliation process had not even been determined in 2009 when the payments were made and the WAC that was in place at the time stated the enhancements would be paid in compliance with 42 USC 1396a (bb)(5)(A) and only that payments would be reconciled.³⁵ How the HCA planned to reconcile was not

³⁴ No. 49569-4-II at pages 18-19.

³⁵ WAC 388-548-1400(10) For clients enrolled with a managed care organization (MCO), the department pays each RHC a supplemental payment in addition to the amounts paid by the MCO. The supplemental payment, called enhancements, are paid in amounts necessary to ensure compliance with 42 USC 1396a (bb)(5)(A).

determined until 2010, after CCC had received the payments.³⁶ Knowing that a financial account will be reconciled simply means it will be checked for accuracy or be accounted for against another account.³⁷ No part of the definition of reconcile even suggests repayment or recoupment and in connection with supplemental payments it would be reasonable to believe the only issue by federal law is whether CCC was paid enough or "at least equal to".

c) The SPA that was adopted by HCA and approved by CMS to apply to 2009 payments required that the 2009 reconciliation be

⁽a) The RHCs receive an enhancement payment each month for each managed care client assigned to them by an MCO.

⁽b) To ensure that the appropriate amounts are paid to each RHC, the department performs an annual reconciliation of the enhancement payments. [Statutory Authority: RCW 74.08.090, 74.09.510, 74.09.522, 42 C.F.R. 405.2472, 42 C.F.R. 491. 08-05-011, § 388-549-1400, filed 2/7/08, effective 3/9/08.]

³⁶ WAC 388-548-1400(13) For clients enrolled with an MCO, the department pays each RHC a supplemental payment in addition to the amounts paid by the MCO. The supplemental payments, called enhancements, are paid in amounts necessary to ensure compliance with 42 USC 1396a (bb)(5)(A).

⁽a) The RHCs receive an enhancement payment each month for each managed care client assigned to them by an MCO.

⁽b) To ensure that the appropriate amounts are paid to each RHC, the department performs an annual reconciliation of the enhancement payments. For each RHC, the department will compare the amount actually paid to the amount determined by the following formula: (managed care encounters times encounter rate) less fee-for-service equivalent of MCO services. If the RHC has been overpaid, the department will recoup the appropriate amount. If the RHC has been underpaid, the department will pay the difference. [Statutory Authority: RCW 74.08.090, 74.09.510, 74.09.522, 42 U.S.C. 1396a(bb), 42 C.F.R. 405.2472, and 42 C.F.R. 491. 10-09-030, § 388-549-1400, filed 4/13/10, effective 5/14/10]

^{37 &}quot;Reconcile." *Merriam-Webster.com*, Merriam-Webster, www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/reconcile. July 2018.

done in 2010³⁸ but it was not done until 2014. The Court of Appeals states in its opinion that "the Agency again notified the Clinic in June 2009 about the upcoming reconciliation and informed the Clinic that if the reconciliation results showed that the Agency had made an overpayment, the Clinic would be responsible for the overpayment."39 The Court then found that based upon that statement, it was not reasonable for CCC to believe they would never be required to repay overpaid enhancement payments. This reasoning is not sound. Again, there was no law or regulation in place in 2009 that provided a reconciliation process and certainly. federal law did not require repayment; and there was no reason to believe the enhancement payments were paid in error. Further, it could be reasonably understood that reconciliation applied to determining the amount of encounters (face-to-face visits) that actually occurred. This is a separate determination detached from supplemental payments (enhancements).

The HCA set the rate for payment of enhancements and made out the checks without any input from CCC; the HCA certainly did not believe they were paying the wrong amount when

³⁸ See prior footnote 4: "The reconciliation for calendar year 2009 will start in calendar year 2010." AR 125.

³⁹ NO. 49569-4-II at page 23.

they made payment. Then to further CCC's reasonable reliance, the HCA did not reconcile for 5 years after payment was made. This was an unreasonable delay that gave CCC further assurance and belief that the payments must have been correct. Because the reconciliation was required to be done in 2010, and for CCC to hear nothing about reconciliation results until 2014, CCC had justifiably relied to their detriment that the enhancement payments were correct. If nothing else, this delay to reconcile should be subject to the doctrine of laches as it clearly lulled CCC into a reasonable belief the enhancement payments in 2009 must have been correct or they would have heard back in 2010 when the payments were required to be reconciled.

As pointed out in *Kramarevcky*, "....a party must establish he or she justifiably relied to his or her detriment on the words or conduct of another. *See Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 405, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)."⁴⁰

Looking at this from the perspective and reasonable understanding of CCC, there can be no question it is "highly probable" they justifiably and reasonably relied upon the correctness of the enhancement payments they received from the

⁴⁰ Kramarevcky, Supra at 747.

HCA. As pointed out by the ALJ, even the HCA "did not know it was supposed to be reconciling the payments."

2. Impairment of Government Function:

The Board further concluded that preventing the Agency from recouping the overpayment from the Clinic would impair government functions. The Board reasoned that government functions would be impaired if the Agency was precluded from recovering the overpayment from the Clinic because the Agency would be prevented from complying with federal Medicaid law and other related federal instructions.⁴² That in itself is a flawed argument. Federal Medicaid law and related federal instructions require only that supplemental payments are at least equal to the encounter payments and do not provide for recoupment of any amount paid in excess. And, if the HCA had been concerned about complying with federal law and federal instructions, they would have reconciled the 2009 payments in 2010 as required. Moreover, the guiding principle behind supplemental payments is to ensure RHCs are adequately compensated so they can continue to operate. The purpose is not to pull the rug from under them years later in a delayed reconciliation process.

⁴¹ Initial Order, AR 55, Conclusion of Law number 5.26.

⁴² No. 49569-4-II at page 11.

When the Supreme Court grappled with the issue of impairment of government function in *Kramarevcky*, ⁴³ and found no impairment, the Court adopted the following reasoning: "The Court of Appeals observed the overpayments in this case resulted from DSHS' error alone, and estoppel may provide an impetus for DSHS to more adequately monitor and control such payments." Interestingly, when reaching her conclusion after hearing CCC's initial appeal, the ALJ concluded no government impairment by adopting the same line of reasoning. Here, the HCA has caused its own impairment of government function by not following the requirement to reconcile timely in 2010 and then chasing recoupment when federal law does not require overpayments to be paid back.

F. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals as well as the Decision and Final Order of the HCA Board of Appeals dated

⁴³ Kramarevcky, Id. at 749.

⁴⁴ Kramarevcky, 64 Wn.App. at 26, 822 P.2d 1227.

⁴⁵ Initial Order, AR 56, Conclusion of Law number 5.27. "In this case, the application of equitable estoppel may actually improve governmental functions. The application of equitable estoppel may provide some incentive to the Agency to become more efficient in its reconciliation process of enhancement payments according to the state's Medicaid plan. It may provide an incentive to the Agency to act more quickly in overpayment cases and to notify providers in less than one year when it discovers the mistake.

August 10, 2015, and re-affirm the ruling in the Initial Order of the Administrative Law Judge that the doctrine of equitable estoppel precludes the collection of the assessed overpayment in 2009 of \$74,634.00.