FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/30/2018 11:06 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96110-7

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHEHALIS CHILDREN'S CLINIC, P.S.,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM T. STEPHENS Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24254 P.O. Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6476 OID No. 91021

# **

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

## IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4(b), there are four limited circumstances in which the Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision. CCC argues that one criterion applies—RAP 13.4(b)(1)—and that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Kramarevcky*. *See* Petition at 7. CCC is mistaken.

# A. The Court of Appeals Ruling Does Not Conflict with Kramarevcky

The issue in *Kramarevcky* was whether recipients of public assistance could assert the defense of equitable estoppel when DSHS attempted to recoup alleged overpayments from them and, if so, whether the plaintiffs had satisfied each element. *Kramarevcky*, 122 Wn.2d at 740, 743. The trial court ruled in that case that the plaintiffs could assert estoppel (which DSHS did not appeal). *Id.* at 740. This Court ultimately held that the plaintiffs had satisfied one element of estoppel and that DSHS had not preserved arguments concerning two of the elements. *Id.* at 744, 750. In the instant case, since the Court of Appeals unambiguously recognized that CCC could claim equitable estoppel, there is no conflict at all on the key ruling from *Kramarevcky*. At most, the Petition presents this Court with a fact-bound question of whether the law established in that case was correctly applied.

and the Court of Appeals decision. CCC makes the bare assertions that the Court of Appeals decision "is at odds with the decision in *Kramarevcky*" and "is in conflict with *Kramarevcky*." *See* Petition at 8. But CCC never explains how or why the decision conflicts with *Kramarevcky*. In fact, there is no conflict and no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

For example, the Court of Appeals ruled "that the Board's findings support its conclusion that the Clinic failed to prove that it reasonably relied on the Agency's overpayment." *See* Slip Op. at 21. This fact-bound determination of no reasonable reliance is limited to this case and thus cannot conflict with *Kramarevcky*. Indeed, the Court of Appeals decision takes pains to confirm that the relevant findings are fully supported by the record, *see* Slip Op. at 21-23, which illustrates how CCC cannot claim any conflict with substantive law and merely seeks to reargue the factual basis for its lack of any reasonable reliance.

Similarly, the Court of Appeals concluded that estoppel could not apply because it would impair the exercise of government functions. *See* Slip Op. at 23. CCC's argument on this element depended on a dubious theory that no government function was at risk when HCA sought to reconcile payments and recover overpayments. That view of HCA's functions has no basis in state or federal law. *See* Slip Op. at 24. In any

event, it is implausible to claim that this ruling conflicts with *Kramarevcky*, which neither involved those same governmental functions nor suggested that such functions these should be impaired by equitable estoppel.

# B. The Court of Appeals Ruling Makes No Change to the Substantive Law Concerning Equitable Estoppel

CCC agrees that DSHS, which administered Medicaid until 2011, adopted a regulation in the wake of *Kramarevcky* outlining how public assistance clients could assert equitable estoppel against the agency. *See* Petition at 8. CCC then acknowledges that HCA later "adopted the same definition of equitable estoppel" as DSHS. *Id.* The elements of estoppel outlined in *Kramarevcky* and HCA's regulation are the same. *See* WAC 182-526-0495; *Kramarevcky*, 122 Wn.2d at 743-44. Again, the presence of this regulation, which is admittedly based on *Kramarevcky*, disproves the existence of any substantive conflict in the legal principles that govern equitable estoppel. The principles have not changed, and the Court of Appeals applied them appropriately.

# C. The Clinic's Appeal Seeks to Retry its Case and Avoid the Findings

CCC claims it satisfied all five of the estoppel elements, including reasonable reliance and impairment of government functions. *See* Petition at 10-15. But this is not a basis for a third level of appellate review on the fact-bound issue decided by the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals.

In any event, the Court of Appeals was correct on the merits. As the party asserting estoppel, CCC had the heavy burden of proving each element by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *Kramarevcky*, 122 Wn.2d. at 744. "Courts should be most reluctant to find the government equitably estopped when public revenues are involved." *Id.* CCC did not meet its burden. *See* Slip Op. at 21, 25.

CCC did not cite to any contract or other binding obligation under which the State promised to pay the clinic more than what it was entitled to receive under the Prospective Payment System. Similarly, CCC did not deny receiving direct communications from HCA, stating explicitly that the amount of the encounter payments and enhancement payments must exactly match what CCC would have received under the Prospective Payment System. *See* Slip Op. at 22-23; CP at 28 (Review Decision and Final Order, Conclusion of Law 20).

As noted above, the two elements of estoppel where the Court of Appeals rejected CCC's claim were reasonable reliance and impairment of government functions. *See* Slip Op. at 21-25.<sup>2</sup> With respect to reliance, CCC "had full notice of federal Medicaid statutes and instructions from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Given its holding on these two elements, the Court of Appeals deemed it unnecessary to examine the "manifest injustice" element, which CCC also had raised. *See* Slip Op. at 25. The remaining two elements of estoppel were not at issue, having been decided by the agency's final order.

federal government about the reconciliation and enhancement payment process." See Slip Op. at 21-22. Plus, under its contract with the State, CCC was subject to all applicable statutes, regulations, billing instructions, and similar guidelines. See Slip Op. at 22. CCC also knew about a federal audit that required the State to change its methodology to ensure that the combination of the encounter and enhancement payments exactly matched what CCC would have received under the Prospective Payment System. Id. Further, CCC knew about an amendment to the State's Medicaid Plan, approved by the federal government, specifying the methodology that had been updated after the federal audit. Id. Finally, CCC received a letter from the State in 2008 summarizing the federal audit, the amendment to the State Plan, the reconciliation process, and the possibility of recouping overpayments. See Slip Op. at 22-23. Accordingly, CCC did not meet its burden on the reliance element. See Slip Op. at 23.

Based on these facts, it was not reasonable for [CCC] to believe that it would never be requested to repay overpaid enhancement payments or that the enhancement payments were simply "additional" income.

Id.

CCC also did not meet its burden on the impairment of government functions prong. *See* Slip Op. at 24. As the Court noted, the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"):

authorized the [State's] enhancement payment and reconciliation process in 2009 after the [State] amended its process. CMS approved the amended [Medicaid State Plan] which required the [State] to pay estimated enhancement payments to [rural health clinics such as CCC] throughout the year followed by a reconciliation of those payments to determine if enhancement payments brought the [clinics] total to an amount exactly equal to what the [clinic] were entitled to receive. Thus, it is clear that any restriction on the [State's] ability to collect enhancement overpayments would impair the [State] from obeying its federal Medicaid mandate[.]

See Slip Op. at 24. The Court of Appeals' reasoning is sound and does not implicate any of the criteria of review in RAP 13.4(b).

#### V. CONCLUSION

In arguing against publication of the Court of Appeals decision, CCC stated that "this case is not of general public interest or importance[.]" *See* Appellant's Answer to Resp't's Mot. to Publish Op. at 3. CCC also stated that "this case does nothing to clarify [the] already established principle" of equitable estoppel; instead, the case "merely proclaims that [CCC] failed to persuade the Court as to two" of the estoppel elements. *Id.* These statements confirm that the Petition does not present any conflict and does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1). The State respectfully requests that the Court deny the Petition.